





Guidance on the standards of care for NHS-funded dental implant treatment 2019

Restorative Dentistry-UK (RD-UK) formerly the Association of Consultants & Specialists in Restorative Dentistry and Faculty of Dental Surgery, Royal College of Surgeons

Contents

Foreword	2
Contributors	3
Introduction	4
Dental implants and quality of life	5
Cost effectiveness of dental implant treatment	5
Success rates of dental implants	6
Patient groups considered eligible for NHS-funded dental implant treatment	7
General eligibility criteria for NHS-funded treatment	10
Specific eligibility criteria for NHS-funded treatment	13
Maintenance	13
Discharge	14
Further work	15
References	16

Foreword

Dental implants offer significant long-term health benefits to patients from a functional and social aspect and can be a cost-effective alternative to conventional treatments. In light of the emerging evidence of dental implant treatment on long-term oral health gain and biological benefits, this treatment should be available to patients if a tangible health benefit can be achieved, when compared with conventional treatment options, notwithstanding the role of patient-related factors influencing successful outcomes.

The guidance on the availability of dental implant treatment within the NHS is vague and states that 'dental implants are available on the NHS only if there is a medical need for this type of treatment and decisions about which treatment is appropriate will be based on clinical assessment and clinical judgement'.¹ This ambiguity has led to a significant variation in access to dental implant treatment within the NHS, with resources seemingly not being allocated equitably for all 'high-priority' patient groups.².³ This is largely due to the perceived high cost of treatment, which has also led to the view often being taken that dental implant treatment should not be routinely available on the NHS, which goes against the NHS parameters of patient care.⁴ As demand for dental implant treatment is high within the publicly funded NHS, guidelines for patient selection and agreed standards of care are essential to help both providers and commissioners of health care.

This document updates the 2012 *Guidelines for Selecting Appropriate Patients to Receive Treatment with Dental Implants: priorities for the NHS.*⁵ The word 'standard' has been used to reflect the consensus of the desired outcomes in relation to the provision of NHS-funded dental implant treatment. It is aspirational in introducing quality control by promoting clinical excellence and establishing clear monitoring standards for patients, to help report outcomes achieved when treating these patients under an NHS contract.

Ulpee R Darbar

Chair of Working Group

March 2019

Contributors

Guideline Development Group

Ulpee Darbar, BDS, MSc, FDS (Rest Dent) RCS, FHEA Consultant in Restorative Dentistry and Director of Dental Education Eastman Dental Hospital, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Former Chair of RD-UK, Association of Consultants and Specialists in Restorative Dentistry

Members

Dr Shakeel Shahdad, BDS MMedSc FDS RCSEd FDS (RestDent) RCS (Edin) DDS Consultant and Honorary Senior Clinical Lecturer in Restorative Dentistry Barts and The London, London

Martin Ashley, BDS (hons) FDSRCS (Eng) FDS (9RestDent) RCS MPhil MFCI Consultant and Honorary Senior Clinical Lecturer in Restorative Dentistry University Dental Hospital of Manchester, Manchester

Chair of RD-UK, Association of Consultants and Specialists in Restorative Dentistry

Stewart Barclay, BDS MSc (Med Sci) FDSRCPS (Glas) FDSRCS (Eng) DRD MRDRCS (Edin)

Consultant in Restorative Dentistry

Newcastle Dental Hospital

Newcastle

Aws Alani, BDS MFDS MSc FDSRCS LLM Consultant in Restorative Dentistry King's College Hospital, London

Divyash Patel, BDS, MFGDP (UK), DipImpDent RCS (Eng), FFGDP RCS (Eng) Clinical Lead for London, NHS England Office of the Chief Dental Officer

England

Consultation with:

Faculty of General Dental Practitioners British Society of Restorative Dentistry British Society of the Study of Prosthetic Dentistry British Society of Periodontology British Association of Oral Surgery **Chief Dental Officers**

Intended audience

This guideline provides information for consultants, specialists and general dental practitioners, as well as other stakeholders involved in the provision and commissioning of dental implants, so that informed and evidence-based decisions are made.

Statement of conflict of interest

The Faculty of Dental Surgery is funded by its fellows and members, and no contributors or reviewers are paid for their work on a guideline, nor is any payment provided in kind.

Aims and objectives

This document updates the 2012 Guidelines for Selecting Appropriate Patients to Receive Treatment with Dental Implants: priorities for the NHS.5 It also aims to provide a more rational basis for referral and focuses on the provision of dental implant treatment within NHS services. It does not include those having such treatment out with NHS provision of care.

Introduction

'Endo-osseous' dental implants, introduced in the late 1980s, have largely replaced all other types of dental implants and are the most common type of dental implant used today due to their improved predictability and outcomes. These implants are surgically inserted into the jaw bone under strict criteria to achieve 'osseointegration' of the implant screw (which replaces the tooth root) with the jaw bone. The screw retains a prosthesis, which can be a single tooth, multiple teeth or dentures, that is removable by the patient or fixed into the mouth. Originally provided for edentulous patients struggling with conventional dentures, dental implants also provide a safe, predictable and cost-effective alternative to some conventional treatments in partially dentate patients. They also provide patients with enhanced quality of life by improving function and confidence.

There are numerous dental implant systems available on the market, offering a broad product range to cater for a range of clinical scenarios. These systems are considered acceptable by experienced clinicians. However, only a few systems offer long-term proven success rates (10 years or more) with comparable outcomes. Although there is no single leading dental implant system within NHS service provision, these few systems are all deemed appropriate, with successful outcomes achieved by careful patient selection, delivering treatment in line with recommended protocols and ensuring that a short- and long-term monitoring and maintenance plan has been established for the patient with their general dental practitioner. The choice of the systems used depends on decisions made by clinical teams in the provider organisation and their compliance with NHS tendering and procurement rules, influenced by the experience within the dental team, cost effectiveness and the need to retain equipment and components.

The current provision of NHS-funded dental implant treatment is largely in hospital settings (dental teaching hospitals and district general hospitals). These will each have a contractual agreement with the commissioners on the level of dental implant activity that is provided, based on locally established protocols, in line with the acceptance criteria outlined in the previously published guidelines from the Royal College of Surgeons of England. As a result, there is a significant variation across the country on how dental implant treatment is commissioned and funded, most probably due to the variable interpretation of the published guidelines and local policy.

Any provider considering provision of NHS-funded dental implant treatment should meet the criteria listed below:

- » have appropriately trained and skilled clinicians who ideally form a multidisciplinary team to assess the clinical suitability for dental implants where the conventional treatments have been tried and failed or are not appropriate, and there is a consensus that dental implants would be of significant health benefit to the patient;
- » compliance with the national NHS implant guidelines and standards;
- » ability to demonstrate that other forms of conventional treatment have been tried and failed and implants are the only option to meet the clinical needs of the patient;
- » use agreed local processes for funding approval which can be audited for against the specified criteria for priority groups;
- » audits using standardised assurance forms collecting the required data in a standardised way to demonstrate compliance;
- » use outcome measures to demonstrate the effectiveness of the treatment;
- » use patient-reported outcome and experience measures to demonstrate patient satisfaction.

Dental implants and quality of life

Tooth loss has been reported to have a significant negative effect on a person's quality of life, having an impact on self-esteem, confidence and function.^{6,7} The positive impact of dental implant treatment on the quality of life of edentulous patients has been reported,^{8,9} and more recently implant-related improvements in the oral health-related quality of life with at least one implant in the front of the mouth have also been reported.¹⁰ Others have reported that dental implant therapy has a positive effect on oral health-related quality of life as determined by the oral health impact profiles.^{11,12} Dental implant treatment provided in a systematic and structured manner does therefore offer significant health gains and benefits to patients by improving their function and self-esteem but also by offering them a tooth replacement option that is independent of adjacent teeth, resembling their own teeth. However, although the real patient benefit over extended periods still needs to be evaluated, it is clear that the short-term studies confirm a positive outcome for patients who have had successful dental implant treatment. Success is dependent upon careful case selection, assessment and planning, with the treatment being led by an experienced and appropriately trained clinical team.

Cost effectiveness of dental implant treatment

Cost effectiveness in monetary terms is measurable; however, cost effectiveness and benefit for health gain has no established value. The relatively high costs of dental implant treatment in the initial stages are outweighed by both the short- and long-term health benefits experienced by patients. A Swiss study assessing the cost effectiveness of dental implant treatment carried out within their national health insurance system, concluded that dental implant reconstruction demonstrated a more favourable cost-effectiveness ratio and recommended implant treatment from an economical point of view, especially where healthy adjacent teeth would have been damaged during conventional treatments.¹³ The same group evaluated the cumulative costs for oral rehabilitation of patients with birth defects, specifically hypodontia, and concluded that insurance-based healthcare systems should provide implants for this cohort as they remove the need to damage adjacent teeth.¹⁴ These studies clearly demonstrate the cost effectiveness of implant treatment when this is considered largely from a biological perspective, where carefully provided implant treatment is less harmful to the natural dentition. Cost effectiveness of dental implant treatment is also governed by the expertise and experience of clinicians delivering this care, with a need for those undertaking this treatment to have achieved the appropriate and correct standards of training and skill for predictable outcomes, especially in the management of patients with complex and integrated treatment needs. It is important, therefore, that cost-benefit analysis is based on the biological and functional impact of treatment and not only the monetary value.

Success rates of dental implants

The success rates of modern dental implants have been widely published, with highly successful and predictable outcomes as documented by various 10-year studies for all types of treatment modalities including implant-retained fixed bridges, individual crowns and overdentures, as well as obturators and related maxillofacial prostheses. 15,16,17,18 Although cumulative success and survival rates of 92-98% for both dental implants and attached prostheses have been reported, they do not give any indication of outcomes at the individual implant screw and prosthetic level. A dental implant, once integrated and stable for one year after function, should last at least 10 years and the prosthetic refurbishment of the implantretained prostheses will need to be considered on average at 10-15 years, although the frequency of this review will also be dependent on patient-related factors. These factors, together with the post-treatment maintenance programme, will also influence the successful outcome of implant treatment. Patients with a history of periodontal disease have been reported to have comparable outcomes once the periodontal disease has been treated, stabilised and maintained. 19 Patient selection and assessment thus remain central to the long-term performance and success of dental implant treatment over time. Factors that also influence dental implant success rates include:

- » poor dental health and hygiene;
- » unstable periodontal disease;
- » current smoking or a previous history of smoking/tobacco usage;
- » bruxism (affects both implant screws and prosthesis);
- » unstable occlusion;
- » uncontrolled diabetes.

Patient (priority) groups considered eligible for NHSfunded dental implant treatment

The groups listed below as agreed by clinicians, the working group representing the societies including RD-UK and FDS consider these groups as a high priority for receiving NHS-funded dental implant treatment. This list is not exhaustive and there may be other patients who qualify for dental implant treatment for whom specific case-based requests justifying the need for dental implant treatment can be considered. All patients, including the priority groups, need to meet the general eligibility criteria for implant treatment and must have undergone a clinical needs assessment balanced against the alternative treatment options before being accepted into the NHS system for dental implant treatment.

1 Patients with congenital, inherited conditions that have led to missing teeth, tooth loss or malformed teeth

Patients in this group are often managed by a multidisciplinary team involving clinicians from orthodontics, paediatric dentistry, oral surgery and restorative dentistry. The restorative dentistry lead will plan the tooth replacement for optimising the outcome as they will be involved with the patient's management at each stage of treatment.

1.1 Hypodontia

Patients with hypodontia may have developmental absence of all adult teeth (anodontia) or have one or more adult teeth missing. Teeth that are present often have a poor shape, which complicates the provision of conventional treatment. They will often need orthodontic treatment to align the teeth in their ideal positions during their teenage years, to facilitate tooth replacement with dental implants, which will usually start when they are at least 18 years of age. A request for implant funding ideally should be considered earlier, at the initial planning stage, to facilitate the orthodontic treatment planning process and to also ensure a seamless pathway of patient care.

1.2 Cleft lip and palate

These patients are either young people in whom there has been a failure for teeth to develop in the area of the cleft and who need tooth replacement as part of the reconstruction following surgical repair, or older patients with failing dentitions in whom conventional tooth replacement is not feasible owing to the complexity and compromise of the remaining teeth and oral anatomy.

1.3 Others, such as dentinogenesis imperfecta, amelogenesis imperfecta, dens invaginatus types $\rm II$ and $\rm II$

These patients usually have malformed and/or ectopic teeth and supporting structures, which complicates the provision of conventional treatment tooth loss.

1.4 Aggressive periodontitis (now categorised as periodontitis)

Patients with aggressive periodontitis who have inherited the condition, which affects the supporting structures of teeth. Early tooth loss is seen because of the severity of the periodontal attachment breakdown, often in young patients, impacting their quality of life. The periodontal condition should have been stabilised and should remain stable for at least six months prior to considering tooth replacement with dental implants.

2 Patients with traumatic events leading to tooth loss

Patients with traumatic tooth loss of any age who have been affected by a traumatic injury resulting in immediate tooth loss with associated loss of the supporting bone and gum tissues. The affected teeth may be retained to preserve the bone and gum tissues until growth ends but, subsequently, are lost and require replacement. The injury may be confined to single or multiple teeth. The tooth replacement options considered should include conventional options before dental implants.

3 Patients with surgical interventions resulting in tooth and tissue loss, for example, head and neck cancer and non-malignant pathology

Patients with surgical interventions resulting in tooth loss require surgery to manage their condition and subsequently require oral rehabilitation to improve function and speech, where conventional options are challenging and compromise both the remaining tissues and patient's quality of life.

4 Patients with congenital or acquired conditions with extra-oral defects of, for example, eyes or ears

Patients with congenital or acquired conditions with extra-oral defects are part of a specialised cohort who are managed by a wider surgical team including maxillofacial, ear nose and throat, craniofacial and plastic surgeons, and clinical dental technicians, together with restorative dentistry clinicians. The latter are usually involved when adjunctive intraoral defects are present and dental implants and craniofacial implants are used to anchor the intra and/or extra-oral prosthesis.

5 Patients who are edentulous in either one jaw or both in whom repeated conventional denture treatment options have been unsuccessful

Patients who are edentulous usually have severe jaw atrophy with anatomical challenge making the wearing of conventional dentures difficult. In these situations, dental implants should only be considered when all other means of constructing a conventional denture have failed. A specialist in restorative dentistry or prosthodontics must assess the quality of the existing dentures and must confirm that all conventional options for denture construction have been exhausted and deemed unsuccessful. The conventional dentures must be of technically ideal quality before a decision of an overdenture supported by two dental implants is considered. The mere fact that a patient would prefer to have their existing dentures replaced by an implant-retained prosthesis or dislikes the thought of wearing dentures would not justify implant provision funded by the NHS.

6 Patients with severe oral mucosal disorders and those with severe xerostomia where conventional prosthetic treatment is not possible and/or the provision of conventional treatment would be detrimental to the mucosal disorders

Patients with severe oral mucosal disorders and those with severe xerostomia have compromised denture-bearing tissues due to the mucosal condition. Denture wearing can often aggravate the condition, traumatise the tissues and compromise the patient's quality of life by reduced function. Patients with dry mouths struggle with wearing dentures because of reduced salivary flow. In both situations, patients should be assessed ideally jointly with a consultant in oral medicine or oral surgery, to optimise their mucosal condition, before the provision of implant treatment is considered.

7 Patients who do not have suitable existing teeth that can be used for anchorage to facilitate orthodontic treatment

Patients who do not have suitable existing teeth that have been identified for orthodontic anchorage for treatment or have natural teeth that are not suitable and cannot be used for anchorage and to do so would be detrimental to the long-term prognosis of the teeth. In these cases, dental implants can be used to provide the required orthodontic anchorage.

General eligibility criteria for NHS-funded treatment

Patients being considered for NHS-funded dental implant treatment must fulfil general criteria to ensure predictability of treatment outcome. While there are no absolute contraindications for dental implant treatment, patients being considered for this treatment on the NHS must:

- » be enrolled with and be a regular attender with a general dental practitioner to ensure continuing dental care and long-term monitoring of the dental implants;
- » have no evidence of untreated primary dental disease (eg tooth caries, periodontal disease, failing restorations);
- » be compliant with daily dental and oral hygiene standards necessary to maintain oral health;
- » be non-smokers (see below).

Occasionally, patients being considered for NHS-funded dental implant treatment may not be able to comply with one or more of the above conditions and a clinical assessment may determine that the dental implant treatment is deemed to be the only appropriate level of care to maintain their wellbeing (eg head and neck cancer patients).

Generic criteria for consideration during patient selection

1 Age

Dental implant treatment should not normally be provided for patients until dentofacial growth has ceased. Implant placement, especially in partially edentulous jaws, should be postponed until the end of the craniofacial/skeletal growth.²⁰ If dental implants are placed during active growth, they may become progressively displaced or malpositioned due to adjacent teeth moving with continued jaw and facial growth. This can, in more severe presentations, result in the need for the implant to be removed.^{21,22,23} Patients should therefore usually be at least 18 years of age. Clinicians should be aware that facial growth will continue after the age of 18 and must consider this during treatment planning. Rarely, dental implant treatment to retain prosthesis is necessary at an earlier age to maintain health and function (eg children with disorders with multiple missing or no natural teeth or underdeveloped oral anatomy). The clinician must be aware of the long-term implications and must ensure that the patient and their parents/carers are aware of the risks.

There is no upper age limit for implant placement, provided that the patient can tolerate the treatment and there are no other complicating or contraindicating factors. When older patients are treated with dental implants, their ability to maintain their dental implants in the future should be taken into consideration, especially when conditions such as Alzheimer's, dementia, Parkinson's disease or rheumatoid arthritis are present, as these are highly likely to result in a reduction in either mental or physical ability to undertake daily oral hygiene measures.

2 Medical health

There are no medical conditions that absolutely contraindicate dental implant treatment. The patient should, however, be fit and healthy to undergo surgical and restorative dentistry treatment over a protracted period of time. Patients with the following conditions should not be considered for dental implant treatment until the condition has been managed and stabilised for at least six months:

- » poorly controlled diabetes;
- » bisphosphonate treatment;
- » psychiatric and mental health issues;
- » other conditions such as blood disorders, immunodeficiency, alcohol/drug abuse, bone disorders and epilepsy;
- » tobacco use:
- » poor dental health.

3 Poorly-controlled diabetes

Dental implants in patients with poorly controlled diabetes (HBA1c greater than 8) have a higher complication rate and increased risk of failure.^{24,25} Implant treatment should be avoided in these patients until such time as the diabetes can be controlled.

4 Bisphosphonate treatment

Patients on intravenous bisphosphonates should not normally be considered for implant treatment because of the higher known risk of bone necrosis. Patients on short-term oral bisphosphonates have a lower risk of bone necrosis. However, such patients should all be made aware of this risk if they are being considered for dental implant treatment. They would usually only be considered for NHS-funded dental implant treatment if there were no suitable conventional alternatives.²⁶

5 Psychiatric and mental health issues

Patients with psychiatric and mental health issues should be considered carefully for dental implant treatment. A clinical dental assessment of the most appropriate choice of intervention should be considered. This clinical assessment should be accompanied by a mental health/psychiatric evaluation to assess the patient's ability to understand and comply with a protracted and complex dental treatment plan, the day-to-day dental hygiene and regular dental attendances, their long-term medical health needs, including indefinite smoking avoidance.

6 Other conditions

Conditions such as blood disorders, immunodeficiency, alcohol and drug abuse, bone disorders and epilepsy will need a detailed assessment to ensure that the condition will not affect the provision of the dental implant treatment.

7 Tobacco use

Smokers and tobacco users have been shown to have a higher risk of complications, with higher failure rates due to the negative influence of nicotine on wound healing.²⁷ Thus, patients who are tobacco users or smokers (including e-cigarettes) should not be considered for implant treatment. Ex-smokers who have given up for at least three months could be considered for the treatment; however, if they resume smoking during the course of treatment, depending on the stage of the treatment, the treatment should be suspended until smoking ceases. Recent ex-smokers being considered for NHS-funded dental implant treatment should undergo smoking cessation advice before the start of treatment.

8 Poor dental health

Patients should have healthy and well-maintained mouths with no primary disease. They must be regular dental attenders with a general dental practitioner to ensure that there is no primary dental disease present and that they have access to long-term monitoring, follow-up and maintenance care. An unstable and poorly-cared-for mouth is a contraindication to implant treatment. The following dental conditions will need specific attention when considering patients for dental implant treatment.

8.1 Periodontal disease

Patients with a history of chronic periodontal disease should have the disease treated and stabilised for at least six months prior to the start of the implant treatment. These patients have a lower success rate with dental implant treatment and a higher risk of peri-implant disease; however, the outcomes are comparable to those with no history of periodontal disease if the disease remains controlled and stable. These patients usually require more stringent maintenance and follow-up regimens.

8.2 Caries, failing restorations and apical disease

Patients who have teeth with untreated caries and failing restorations should have been stabilised and treated and any apical disease managed prior to the start of the implant treatment.²⁹

8.3 Parafunction/grinding habits (bruxism)

Patients with grinding habits will have a higher risk of mechanical complications (eg fracture of the restoration or screws or problems with occlusal overload) and thus should be considered with caution for implant treatment.³⁰

8.4 Compliance

Patients considered for dental implant treatment should have good compliance. Dental implant treatment may involve a range of procedures which can be time consuming and need optimal patient involvement during the planning and execution of treatment and also after treatment. Patients who have poor compliance and those with lack of motivation should not be considered for dental implant treatment.

Patients having undergone dental implant treatment on a self-funded basis can have an NHS consultation but do not have access to future NHS-funded care of these dental implants unless there is an need for intervention to manage an acute problem, which often involves removal of the implants. The patient must, however, be reminded that the tooth replacement costs and any other future prosthetic reconstructions will not be funded by the NHS.

Specific eligibility criteria for NHS-funded treatment

Dental implant treatment requires careful planning to ensure successful outcomes. It is important that a detailed assessment is undertaken to ensure that the implant placement and prosthetic reconstruction meets the functional and aesthetic needs of the patient and the long-term biological stability of the tissues. The following parameters should be fulfilled:

- » tooth position evaluated and established to determine the correct site of the implant placement to provide a functional and aesthetically acceptable restoration;
- » adequate bone quantity and quality (with or without bone grafting) are present to facilitate implant placement that is restoratively and prosthetically appropriate;
- » prosthetic design should facilitate the patient's oral hygiene practices to maintain the implants;
- » agreed treatment should be planned within a multidisciplinary team where appropriate and risks identified at the outset;
- » potential damage to the adjacent anatomical structures identified and risk strategy planned to minimise the risk.

The complexity of the required treatment will be defined by the number of missing teeth, the soft and hard tissue loss and the planned restorative reconstruction, and the patient cohort being treated. Additional diagnostic aides such as computed tomography and three-dimensional diagnostic imaging should be considered in conjunction with routine clinical assessment to achieve the best outcome for the patient. The clinical team in charge of the patient will determine the case complexity including the number of implants and the type of prosthesis.

Maintenance

Dental implant treatment outcomes are dependent on regular monitoring and maintenance. Current NHS-funded dental implant treatment covers the active course of treatment related to the episode of care but does not cover the costs associated with the post-treatment maintenance of the implants or future treatment if required. Patients accepted for NHS-funded dental implant treatment should thus be made aware that the costs associated with the maintenance care of their implant treatment will not normally be funded by the NHS and that they may incur costs for this. Additionally, they should also be made aware that there is no guarantee that any future treatment or replacement costs associated with the implant treatment will be supported by the NHS. Any future treatment needs will need to be supported by requesting funding approval from the NHS.

Discharge

Upon completion of their dental implant treatment, patients will be discharged back to the general dental practitioner, as with all other dental treatment provided in hospital/specialist settings.

The general dental practitioner will have the responsibility of undertaking routine monitoring for the dental implant based reconstruction,³¹ which, as for natural teeth and other restorations, will include oral hygiene assessment, bleeding indices and a probing chart, together with radiographs and monitoring of the prosthesis, with possible re-referral to the provider or other implant provider if any problem is noted.

The provider has the following responsibilities:

- » obtaining intraoral radiographs of each dental implant taken following the fit of the prosthesis to enable the monitoring of the bone levels at future appointments;
- » obtaining a periodontal charting following the fit of the prosthesis to enable monitoring and assessment of the periodontal tissues at future appointments;
- » providing the patient with dental hygiene advice specific to their dental implant restoration;
- » ensuring that the patient understands that they may need to fund their maintenance care;
- » ensuring that the patient understands that their dentist will monitor their implants and prosthesis for them within the NHS provision of care;
- » ensuring that the patient understands that their dentist can re-refer them if problems arise in the future but that further treatment may not receive NHS funding;
- » providing the general dental practitioner with details of the treatment undertaken including the implant system used, the type of abutments and prosthesis provided, together with the monitoring and expected maintenance regimen required;
- » providing replacement or corrective treatment when necessary if problems occur within the first year after completion of treatment.

Following completion of implant treatment, the provider should also ensure that the following information has been documented and provided to the general dental practitioner and the patient:

- » personalised instructions appropriate to the type of restoration given to the patient to facilitate their day-to-day dental and oral hygiene around the implants;
- » grafting, if undertaken for the site, together with the materials used;
- » the implant system used, together with the type, position and diameter of each implant and prosthetic connection;
- » whether the prosthesis is integral with or separate from the abutment(s);
- » for cemented restorations, the presence of material in the screw access hole, the type of cement used and the site of the access hole within each abutment, to facilitate future access;
- » periodontal chart and radiographs taken following the fit of the prosthesis, to enable monitoring.

Further work

Dental implant treatment is an evolving field and it is important that standards and guidelines are updated on a regular basis to comply with this requirement.

While a number of dental implants are being provided through NHS providers, a higher volume is provided through private contractors. This document largely covers standards for providers of NHS-funded dental implant treatment. It is recognised that, currently, while there is ample evidence demonstrating the beneficial effects on health gain and quality of care, there are poor data, complicated by the different ways in which implant treatment can be delivered, available to substantiate cost effectiveness and clinical outcomes associated with this treatment.

The current system for NHS funding of dental implants varies across the country and ranges from individual funding requests for each patient to annual block contracts where a specified level of activity is agreed by the commissioner and supported by submission of audit data demonstrating compliance. Ideally, funding for implant treatment for all providers should be based an annual block contract with compliance submissions, thus ensuring equitable access to implant provision for patients who meet the criteria outlined. It is anticipated that following the pilot work undertaken by NHS England on funding and provision of implant treatment, the revised system for funding will address this variation.

It is anticipated that, in conjunction with national organisations within the NHS, robust arrangements will be put in place to facilitate both clinical outcome and patient experience outcome measures audits to obtain a more objective outcome evaluation of NHS-funded dental implant treatment.

References

- NHS. Which dental treatments are available on the NHS? April 2017. https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/dental-health/which-dental-treatments-are-available -on-the-nhs (cited May 2019)
- Andrews KV, Penny JR, King PA. Are patients referred for NHS-funded implant treatment being selected in accordance with national guidelines and subsequently funded by their primary care trust? Ann R Coll Surg Enal 2010: 92: 512–514.
- Vartoukian SR, Algraffee H. Does the referral and selection for NHS-funded dental implant treatment in the UK follow National Guidelines? Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2007; 89(3): 247–251.
- 4. Butterworth CJ, Baxter AM, Shaw MJ, Bradnock G. The provision of dental implants in the National Health Service Hospital dental services: a national questionnaire. *Br Dent J* 2001; **190(2)**: 93–96.
- 5. Alani A, Bishop K, Djemal S, Renton T. *Guidelines for Selecting Appropriate Patients to Receive Treatment with Dental Implants: Priorities for the NHS*. London: RCS Faculty of Dental Surgery; 2012.
- McGrath C, Bedi R. Measuring the impact of oral health on life quality in two national surveys.
 Measuring the impact of oral health on life quality in two national Surveys. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2002; 30: 254–259.
- Davis DM, Fiske J, Scott B, Radford DR. The emotional effect of tooth loss: a preliminary study. Br Dent J 2000; 188: 503–506.
- Allen PF, Thomason JM, Jepson NJ et al. Positive impact of dental implant treatment on edentulous patients. J Dent 2012; 40(1); 22–34.
- 9. Awad MA, Lund JP, Shapiro SH. Oral health status and treatment satisfaction with mandibular implant overdentures and conventional dentures. *Int J Prosthodont* 2003; **16**: 390–396.
- Kriz P, Seydlova M, Dostalova T et al. Dental implants and improvement of oral health-related quality of life. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2012; 40(Suppl. 1): 65–70.
- 11. Patel N, Vijayanarayanan RP, Pachter D, Coulthard P. Oral health related quality of life: pre and post dental implant treatment. *Oral Surg* 2015; **8**: 18–22.
- 12. Melas F, Marcenes W, Wright PS. Oral health impact on daily performance in patients with implant stabilised overdentures and patients with conventional complete dentures. *J Oral Maxillofac Implants* 2001; **16**: 700–712.
- 13. Brägger U, Krenander P, Lang NP. Economic aspects of single-tooth replacement. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 2005; **16**: 335–341.
- Incici E, Matuliene G, Husler J et al. Cumulative costs for the prosthetic reconstructions and maintenance in young adult patients with birth defects affecting the formation of teeth. Clin Oral Implants Res 2009; 20(7): 715–721.
- 15. Buser D, Janner SF, Wittneben JG et al. 10-year survival and success rates of 511 titanium implants with a sandblasted and acid-etched sur- face: a retrospective study in 303 partially edentulous patients. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res* 2012; **14**: 839–851.
- Degidi M, Nardi D, Piattelli A. 10-year follow-up of immediately loaded implants with TiUnite porous anodized surface. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012: 14: 828–838.
- Fischer K, Stenberg T. Prospective 10-year cohort study based on a randomized controlled trial (RCT) on implant-supported full-arch maxillary prostheses. Part 1: sand-blasted and acid-etched implants and mucosal tissue. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012: 14: 808–815.
- Gotfredsen K. A 10-year prospective study of single tooth implants placed in the anterior maxilla. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012: 14: 80–87.
- Correia F, Gouveia S, Felina AC et al. Survival rate of dental implants in patients with a history of periodontal disease: a retrospective cohort study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2017; 32(4): 927–934.
- 20. Koch G, Bergendal T, Kvint S, Johansson UB. Consensus Conference on Oral Implants in Young Patients. Stockholm: Forlagshuset Gothia; 1996.
- 21. Mankani N, Chowdhary R, Patil BA *et al.* Dental implants in growing children: a literature review. *J Implantol*: 2014; **40(5)**: 627–631.
- 22. Heij DG, Opdebeeck H, van Steenberghe D et al. Facial development, continuous tooth eruption and mesial drift as compromising factors for implant placement. 2006. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 21(6): 867–878.
- Cronin RJ JR, Oesterle LI, Ranly DM. Mandibular implants and the growing patient. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1994; 9(1): 55–62.
- Naujokat H, Kunzendorf B, Wiltfang J. Dental implants and diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. 2016. Int J Implant Dent 2(1): 5.

- 25. Javed F, Romanos GE. Impact of diabetes mellitus and glycemic control on the osseointegration of dental implants: a systematic literature review. *J Periodontol* 2009; **80(11)**: 1,719–1,730.
- 26. Ata-Ali J, Ata-Ali F, Peñarrocha Oltra D, Galindo Moreno P. What is the impact of bisphosphonate therapy upon dental implant survival? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Oral Implant Res* 2016; **27**: e38–46.
- Chrcanovic BR, Albrektsson T, Wennerberg A. Smoking and dental implants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent 2015; 43(5): 487

 –498.
- 28. Sgolastra F, Petrucci A, Severino M *et al.* Periodontitis, implant loss and peri-implantitis: a meta-analysis. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 2015; **26(4)**; 8–16.
- 29. Brisman DL, Brisman AS, Moses MS. Implant failures associated with asymptomatic endodontically treated teeth. *J Am Dent Assoc* 2001; **132(2)**: 191–195.
- 30. Manfredini D, Poggio CE, Lobbezoo F. Is bruxism a risk factor for dental implants? A systematic review of the literature. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res* 2014; **16(3)**: 460–469.
- 31. British Society of Periodontology. The Good Practitioners Guide to Periodontology. Liverpool: BSP; 2016.

www.rcseng.ac.uk



The Royal College of Surgeons of England

35-43 Lincoln's Inn Fields London WC2A 3PE

Registered Charity No. 212808 **Published:** June 2019